THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001542

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

FEB 21 2019

SC Court of Appeals

The State, Respondent,

v.

James Heyward, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

K&L GATES LLP

Tara C. Sullivan
134 Meeting Street, Suite 500
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 579-5600

Chief Appellate Defender

Robert M. Dudek
South Carolina Commission on Indigent
Defense, Division of Appellate Defense
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Columbia, SC 29201-3332
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in admitting evidence and testimony regarding (a) an out-of-court photograph lineup where the victim did not make a positive identification and (b) the subsequent positive identification made by the victim at trial?
- II. Did the trial court err in admitting a fingerprint card obtained from a New Jersey database and testimony based on the New Jersey fingerprint card where the New Jersey fingerprint card was not properly authenticated by the State?
- III. Did the trial court err by allowing expert opinion testimony about the operational capabilities of the gun found at Appellant's residence where such testimony was not relevant to the charges against Appellant and was needlessly cumulative and unduly prejudicial?
- IV. Did the trial court err in allowing Appellant's alias "Abdul Muslim" to be included in the indictments and at trial because the alias invited undue religious prejudice against Appellant?
- V. Did the trial court err in admitting gruesome autopsy dissection photographs of the victim's internal head injuries where the photographs lacked probative value and were calculated to inflame the passions of the jury?
- VI. Did the trial court err by denying Appellant's request to remove his shackles during jury selection?
- VII. Did the cumulative errors committed by the trial court have the effect of preventing Appellant from receiving a fair trial, entitling Appellant to a new trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant is currently serving a sentence of life in prison without the possibility of parole plus seventy years following his convictions for murder, burglary in the first degree, armed robbery, two counts of kidnapping, assault and battery in the first degree, pointing and presenting a firearm, and possession by a person of an unlawful weapon having been convicted of a crime of violence. The Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on these charges.

Prior to the commencement of trial, the Honorable R. Knox McMahon conducted evidentiary hearings on a number of issues. The case was called for trial on June 27, 2017, before Judge McMahon. On July 3, 2017, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as to all charges. (R. p. 420, line 2-p. 421, line 6.) The trial court sentenced Appellant to life in prison without the possibility of parole, plus seventy years to be served consecutively and ten years to be served concurrently. (R. p. 422, line 3-p. 423, line 14.) Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal on July 11, 2017.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 11, 2015, Alice Tollison was found strangled to death in her home. (R. p. 147, line 18-p. 148, line 2.) Her eight-year old great-granddaughter, G.F., was also found at the scene, after being tied up and left by the assailant. (R. p. 147, line 18-p. 148, line 2, p. 150, lines 6-18, p. 154, lines 15-21, p. 159, lines 22-24.)

G.F. met with Investigator Joe Clarke at the hospital that evening and gave him a description of her assailant. (R. p. 369, line 22-p. 370, line 5.) The next day, G.F. met with Investigator Clarke again at the Assessment and Resource Center, wherein she was provided a photograph lineup in which Appellant was depicted along with five other African-American

men. (R. p. 371, lines 3-8, State Ex. 30.) Their interaction was recorded by video. (R. p. 27, lines 17-24, State Ex. 31.)

The video recording reflects that when presenting the photograph lineup to G.F., Investigator Clarke told her that "I'm going to show you some pictures, okay. . . . I want you to help me and see if you can see the bad man who did this to your grandmomma." (State Ex. 31.) G.F. referenced the photograph of Appellant by stating, "Number three looks kind of like him." (State Ex. 31.) She then commented that she "couldn't really remember if he had facial hair or not." (State Ex. 31.) Investigator Clarke then asked, "Okay, and you feel pretty confident about that?" (State Ex. 31.) While G.F. responded "yes," it is unclear whether she was affirmatively responding to the facial hair comment or the initial remarks about photograph number three. (State Ex. 31.) G.F. subsequently pointed to a photograph and said, "That one kind of looks like my janitor." (State Ex. 31.) Investigator Clarke then turned over the page of photographs so G.F. could no longer see them. (State Ex. 31.) As Investigator Clarke left the room, G.F. asked him, "You're going to try to catch someone who looks like that? But it's probably not exactly because that isn't exactly" (State Ex. 31.) She appeared to be mid-sentence when Investigator Clarke interrupted her, and she was not given a chance to finish her statement.

Prior to trial, the court conducted a hearing pursuant to Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375 (1972), to determine whether G.F.'s photograph lineup identification of Appellant would be admitted and also whether G.F. would be permitted at trial to identify Appellant to the jury as the assailant. (R. p. 17, lines 13-18, p. 117, lines 12-17.) After watching the video recording of the lineup identification procedure, Judge McMahon ruled that these identifications would be allowed. (R. p. 27, lines 17-24, State Ex. 31.) At trial, G.F.'s photograph lineup identification was admitted. (R. p. 165, line 23-p. 169, line 18, p. 372, line 15-p. 372, line 2,

State Ex. 30.) G.F. explained that during the lineup she was asked to “point out the person who [she] -- who looked most like him,” and that she tried to choose “which one scare[d her] and which one look[ed] like him.” (R. p. 168, line 21-p. 169, line 1.) G.F. also identified Appellant as the assailant in the courtroom during her testimony. (R. p. 169, line 20-p. 170, line 12.)

The same day G.F. participated in the photograph lineup identification, the Richland County Police matched certain fingerprints from the crime scene to a fingerprint card which was attributed to Appellant from the State of New Jersey’s Automated Fingerprint Identification System (“AFIS”) database. (R. p. 371, lines 6-19, p. 204, lines 11-19, p. 208, lines 1-10.) After his arrest, the police fingerprinted Appellant through Livescan software. (R. p. 225, lines 8-17.) At trial, the State presented testimony from latent print analysis expert Investigator Trisha Odom, who conducted fingerprint analyses comparing the latent prints collected from the crime scene and the New Jersey fingerprint card. (R. p. 197, line 25- p. 196, line 5, p. 202, lines 10-21, p. 224 lines, 1-14.) Defense counsel objected to the introduction of all fingerprint evidence because the fingerprint card from the New Jersey database was never authenticated in accordance with South Carolina law. (R. p. 203, line 18-p. 205, line 2.) During an in camera session, Investigator Odom admitted that she did not know the minimum compliance thresholds for every state in order to place prints into their respective databases. (R. p. 220, line 21-p. 221, line 22.) Nevertheless, the court overruled defense counsel’s argument that the New Jersey prints had not been authenticated and ultimately admitted the fingerprint evidence. (R. p. 243, lines 12-17.)

A search warrant was obtained following Appellant’s arrest, and a gun was found in the home where Appellant was residing. (R. p. 314, lines 11-13, p. 314, line 25-p. 316, line 5.) At trial, G.F. testified that the assailant had a pistol that was “gold and rusty.” (R. p. 146, line 24-p. 147, line 14.) The State elicited detailed testimony about the recovered gun as well. Investigator

Michael Beeler testified that the recovered gun was an unloaded “.32 caliber Smith & Wesson handgun.” (R. p. 351, line 24-p. 352, line 3.) During his testimony, the court admitted “the handgun . . . as well as six unfired cartridges” into evidence. (R. p. 352, lines 19-25.)

After the entry of the recovered gun into evidence and the testimony describing the gun, Defense counsel objected to the subsequent testimony of Investigator David Collins, who was offered by the State to opine on the operational capabilities of the recovered firearm. (R. p. 357, line 23- p. 358, line 5.) The court overruled the objection, finding that whether the firearm was “capable of expelling a projectile through explosion. . . . is an essential element of pointing and presenting.” (R. p. 360, lines 16-22.) The court further stated that such testimony would also be relevant to finding whether Appellant was armed with a deadly weapon during the robbery. (R. p. 359, line 21-p. 360, line 4.) In addition to testifying about the operational capabilities of the recovered firearm, Investigator Collins testified it was “somewhat worn and the finish [was] in bad condition.” (R. p. 357, lines 9-11.)

Defense counsel also objected to the use of the alias “Abdul Muslim” in the indictments and at trial. (R. p. 426, line 2-p. 437, line 14, p. 441, line 11-p. 443, line 19, p. 444, lines 4-10, p. 446, lines 7-20, p. 447, lines 8-16, p. 3, lines 5-10, Motion to Strike, Ex. 1.) The alias was read to the jury pool as part of the indictments and referenced during jury voir dire. (R. p. 4, line 19-p. 16, line 7.) During the trial, the State presented testimony that DNA from the crime scene matched to an “Abdul Muslim” with the national identification number 220688PA. (R. p. 378, line 2-p. 379, line 9.) Previous testimony indicated that Appellant’s national identification number was 220688PA, and another State witness testified she knew Appellant as “Abdul.” (R. p. 225, lines 10-13, p. 321, line 23-p. 322, line 3.)

Although the State presented DNA evidence at trial, defense counsel presented testimony from Dr. Michael Spence, an expert in forensic DNA analysis, during rebuttal. (R. p. 415, lines 20-23.) Dr. Spence criticized the way in which the State's experts amplified the DNA samples for comparison, testifying that there was "an enormous risk . . . of cross-contamination from defendant or victim into any of the[] evidence samples." (R. p. 416, lines 1-21.) In other words, because of the way the DNA samples were amplified, "there [was] no way of telling whether that mixture [identifying Appellant's DNA] came from the original sample [from the crime scene] and from that place on that item or if the mixture came from a cross-contamination event." (R. p. 416, lines 8-15.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge, who will not be reversed in the absence of a prejudicial abuse of discretion." State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420, 706 S.E.2d 16, 18 (2011) (citation omitted); see also State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006) ("The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.") (citations omitted); State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000) ("Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or . . . prejudicial legal error.") (citation omitted); State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 622-23, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010) ("The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of photographs are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.") (quoting State v. Shuler, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003)) (internal quotation marks omitted); and

State v. Tucker, 320 S.C. 206, 209, 464 S.E.2d 105, 107 (1995) (“Whether a defendant is restrained during trial is within the trial judge’s discretion.”).

“An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006) (citation omitted). Moreover, “[a] failure to exercise discretion amounts to an abuse of that discretion.” State v. Hawes, 411 S.C. 188, 191, 767 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2015) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Samples v. Mitchell, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct. App. 1997)).

The appellate standard of review for questions of law, however, is de novo. See Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007) (“We are free to decide a question of law with no particular deference to the circuit court.”) (citation omitted); see, e.g., Moore, 343 S.C. at 288, 540 S.E.2d at 448 (“However, an eyewitness identification which is unreliable because of suggestive line-up procedures is constitutionally inadmissible as a matter of law.”) (citations omitted).

When a combination of errors, while individually failing to rise to the level of being sufficiently prejudicial to warrant a new trial,¹ has the effect of preventing a party from receiving a fair trial, then the party is entitled to a new trial. State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999); see also State v. Peterson, 287 S.C. 244, 245, 335 S.E.2d 800, 801 (reversing and remanding criminal case for a new trial “[d]ue to the collective impact of numerous errors committed by the trial court”) overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (overruling State v. Peterson to the extent it “require[d] *in favorem vitae* review”).

¹ Appellant contends that each argument here is sufficient to reverse; there is no insignificant error in this record. However, if the Court feels that any issue alone does not equal reversible error, then certainly the issues combined demonstrate prejudice and mandate a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in admitting evidence and testimony regarding (a) an out-of-court photograph lineup where the victim did not make a positive identification and (b) the subsequent positive identification made by the victim at trial.

The trial court committed reversible error and violated Appellant's rights to due process by admitting evidence and testimony regarding G.F.'s so-called "identification" of Appellant during a photograph lineup and G.F.'s subsequent identification of Appellant at trial. G.F. was presented with three opportunities to make an identification of her assailant: (1) during the initial photograph lineup; (2) at the pre-trial hearing regarding the admissibility of the initial photograph lineup, and (3) at the trial itself. When presented with six pictures during the initial photograph lineup, G.F. indicated that the photograph of Appellant looked "kind of" like her assailant but advised that it was "not exactly" him. (State Ex. 31.) At the pre-trial hearing, G.F. identified Appellant in the courtroom as the person she saw in the photograph lineup, but she did not identify Appellant as the assailant. (R. p. 46, lines 10-25.) Finally, during the trial, G.F. testified that she was sure Appellant was her assailant. (R. p. 165, line 9-p. 170, line 25.) This succession of events caused the final identification at trial to be virtually inevitable. Because the identification procedure was so unduly suggestive, unreliable, and conducive to irreparable misidentification, the initial "identification" and the subsequent identification at trial should not have been admitted.

The Supreme Court of the United States has warned that misidentification is the "primary evil to be avoided" in identification procedures and that it is "the likelihood of misidentification which violates a defendant's right to due process." Neil, 409 U.S. at 198, 93 S.Ct. at 381-82 (citation omitted). As the South Carolina Supreme Court explained in State v. Moore, Neil v.

Biggers sets out a two-pronged inquiry to guard against the likelihood of misidentification during out-of-court identifications: “First, [a] court must determine whether the identification process was unduly suggestive It next must determine whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.” 343 S.C. at 287, 540 S.E.2d at 447 (citation omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted). Reliability is determined by a totality of the circumstances test, in which the court considers the following factors: “the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness’ degree of attention, the accuracy of the witness’ prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation.” Neil, 409 U.S. at 199-200, 93 S.Ct. at 382.

Where a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification, a subsequent in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible. State v. Brown, 356 S.C. 496, 502-03, 589 S.E.2d 781, 784 (Ct. App. 2003) (citations omitted). Admission of the in-court identification under such circumstances is a constitutional error. See Thompson v. Leeke, 756 F.2d 314, 317 (4th Cir. 1985) (issuing writ of habeas corpus after finding admission of witness’s in-court identification was constitutional error where witness’s in-court identification was tainted by a pre-trial photograph display and the witness’s in-court identification “might have” at least contributed to petitioner’s conviction for armed robbery).

In the present case, the trial court conducted a pre-trial hearing pursuant to Neil v. Biggers in which it found G.F.’s so-called “identification” admissible. (R. p. 17, line 14-p. 115, line 4, p. 116, line 16-p. 123, line 4, State Ex. 30, State Ex. 31.) The trial court found that the so-called initial “identification” was not the result of an unduly suggestive identification process

and, therefore, it did not need to evaluate the second prong of reliability. (R. p. 122, line 18-p. 123, line 2.) In its analysis regarding whether the identification process was unduly suggestive, the trial court disregarded the lack of an actual identification in the initial photograph lineup, holding that whether a definite identification had been made was an issue for the jury rather than one of initial admissibility for the court. (R. p. 121, lines 17-18.) The definitiveness of G.F.'s initial "identification," however, was an issue for the court to determine before allowing it into evidence. See Foster v. California, 394 U.S. 440, 89 S.Ct. 1127 (1969).

In Foster, a victim was given three opportunities to identify his assailant prior to the trial. 394 U.S. at 441-43, 89 S.Ct. at 1128-29. First, he viewed a physical line-up of three men. Id. at 441, 89 S.Ct. at 1128. "After seeing this lineup, [the victim] could not positively identify [the defendant] as the robber. He 'thought' he was the man, but he was not sure." Id. Next, the victim had a one-to-one sit-down with the defendant but he "still was uncertain whether [the defendant] was one of the robbers." Id. Finally, the victim later viewed a physical lineup of five men, and the defendant was the only person in this second lineup that had been included in the original lineup. Id. at 441-42, 89 S.Ct. at 1128. At this point, the victim "was 'convinced' [the defendant] was the man." Id. at 442, 89 S.Ct. at 1128. The victim later positively identified the defendant at trial. Id.

The Foster Court held that this identification procedure "made it all but inevitable that [the victim] would identify [the defendant] whether or not he was in fact 'the man.'" Id. at 443, 89 S.Ct. at 1129. The victim began by being unable to make any identification, changed to a tentative identification, and ultimately came to a definite identification as a result of the police effectively repeatedly telling the witness that the defendant was the assailant. Id. at 441-43, 89

S.Ct. at 1128-29. The Foster Court found that this was a compelling example of unfair lineup procedures and held that the procedures violated the defendant's right to due process. Id.

Likewise, here, as the video recording reflects, G.F. did not make any identification during the initial photograph lineup. (State Ex. 31.) When showing the initial photograph lineup to G.F., Investigator Clarke encouraged G.F. to be brave and to help him. (State Ex. 31.) He told her that "I'm going to show you some pictures, okay. . . . I want you to help me and see if you can see the bad man who did this to your grandmamma." (State Ex. 31.) He did not, however, tell her that she need not identify anyone if she did not see the "bad man," indicating that the "bad man" would be included in the pictures he would show her and that it was her task to determine which one of the six pictures was the "bad man." (State Ex. 31.) In response, G.F. stated that the photograph of Appellant "looks kind of like" the assailant. (State Ex. 31.) She asked Investigator Clarke, "You're going to try to catch someone who looks like that? But it's probably not exactly because that isn't exactly" (State Ex. 31.) Like the victim in Foster, she was unable to make a positive identification from the initial lineup, and she even seemed to indicate that the photograph of Appellant was not the assailant.

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