**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

Appeal from Richland County  
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

---

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

v.

**JAMES HEYWARD,**

**Appellant.**

Appellate Case No. 2017-001542

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 68383  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

HEATHER S. WEISS  
Interim Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit  
Post Office Box 192  
Columbia, SC 29202

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

During a proffer of testimony, Dr. Durso explained the photographs demonstrated there was more than just a strangulation—there was a struggle, and Ms. Tollison's head was struck on multiple different areas. (R. p. 293, line 21 – p. 294, line 1.) Dr. Durso said the injuries contributed to the cause of death and the photographs were demonstrative of those injuries because “it's easiest with a picture.” (R. p. 294, lines 2-11.) The doctor then used the photographs to demonstrate where the injuries occurred on Ms. Tollison's head. (R. p. 295, lines 2-11.)

The trial court cited to *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014), and found the probative value of the photographs outweighed the prejudicial impact. The court found the photographs probative of malice because the exhibits indicated a violent struggle occurred at the time of Ms. Tollison's death. Accordingly, the court denied Heyward's objections and admitted Exhibits 14 and 15 into evidence. (R. p. 296, line 11 – p. 300, line 5.)

## Analysis

The brutality of Ms. Tollison's murder was shocking. The photographs offered captured the violence inflicted upon her and the various types of wounds she suffered at the hands of James Heyward. There was an eyewitness to the crime, the eight year old granddaughter of the victim, who described watching Heyward strangle her grandmother at the kitchen table. However, the girl was also locked in a closet for a significant period of time. The State theorized Heyward used his arm to choke Ms. Tollison and then later returned to "finish her off" with the draft-stopper that was found wrapped around her neck. (R. p. 417, lines 14-22.) The State argued Heyward's actions showed a total disregard for human life, proving the required element of malice in the murder of Ms. Tollison. (R. p. 418, lines 9-19.) The proof of malice was reflected by the victim's own body. The State was entitled to make its case, despite the gruesome nature of the photographs, because the pictures were the easiest, and most demonstrative manner to communicate that evidence to the jury.

In *Collins*, the circuit court admitted into evidence seven pre-autopsy photographs of a child who died of "extensive traumatic injury" after being severely mauled by dogs. *Id.* at 528-33, 763 S.E.2d at 25-27. The South Carolina Court of Appeals reversed, finding the circuit court erroneously admitted the photographs, and the error was not harmless. *Id.* at 533, 763 S.E.2d at 27. However, the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals, finding the photographs were "highly probative, corroborative, and material in establishing the elements of the offenses charged; [their] probative value outweighed [their] potential prejudice; and the appellate court should not have invaded the trial court's discretion in admitting this crucial evidence based on its emotional reaction to the subject matter presented." *Id.* at 534-35, 763 S.E.2d at 28.

In *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 759 S.E.2d 162 (Ct. App. 2014), the circuit court admitted into evidence eleven photographs of a victim—taken before and during autopsy—who died after being severely beaten during two separate fights on the same day. The Court of Appeals determined it was within the circuit court's discretion to admit eight of the photographs of high probative value presenting minimal danger of unfair prejudice, noting the photographs “contain no blood or gory anatomical details, and thus pose little, if any, danger of unfair prejudice.” *Id.* at 609, 759 S.E.2d at 164. As for the remaining three photographs, which were taken during autopsy and showed the victim's exposed skull and brain, the Court concluded they too had probative value; they corroborated the pathologist's findings concerning the extent and location of the victim's head injuries and cause of death and were important to the State's ability to prove malice. *Id.* at 612–16, 759 S.E.2d at 166–68.

In *State v. Kelly*, 319 S.C. 173, 460 S.E.2d 368 (1995), our Supreme Court found photographs showing blood patterns on the victim and area around the victim were probative as to the element of malice. The Court noted the defense position that the defendant should only be convicted of voluntary manslaughter, and reasoned the evidence reflecting “the entire crime scene,” which included “charts, photographs, and video [that] also were relevant to establish malice.” *Id.*, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370. In particular, the Court reasoned:

... The charts, photographs, and video here depicted the excess nature of the killing. The relevance of ... these items and their probative value on the issue of malice was great enough to negate the risk of the jury's basing its decision on an improper passion.

*Id.*, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 371.

Here, the photographs were used to specifically demonstrate, explain, and corroborate the location and extent of the blunt force trauma wounds, in addition to the strangulation wounds, all of which were evidence of malice. In his brief, Heyward incorrectly argues the testimony was

unnecessary to establish what occurred to the victim because the girl witnessed the crime, distinguishing the case at hand from *Collins*, in which there were no eyewitnesses. (IBOA at 20.) However, although the girl did see Heyward attack her grandmother, she did not witness the entirety of the crime. Thus, the photographs provided the jury with more information than that available to the child. Moreover, the photographs were entered during the State's case in chief. Heyward had not yet elected his right to refuse to testify. Without knowing how Heyward would defend the murder charge, the State sought to prove malice, in part, from the unnecessary brutality inflicted on Ms. Tollison.

Heyward argues the photographs were not needed because the girl provided eyewitness testimony to the murder, then inconsistently argues the trial court erred in finding the photographs corroborated the girl's story because the girl never testified about injuries to Ms. Tollison's head. (IBOA at 20.) This gap in the testimony is precisely the reason the photographs, in conjunction with the testimony of the pathologist, were significant. Dr. Durso testified the trauma to the head was a contributing factor to the cause of death. She also testified the wounds would not be visible externally because the victim's hair would obscure the injuries. (R. p. 291, line 23 – p. 292, line 3.) The photographs corroborated this testimony. Consequently, there were distinct and necessary reasons to submit the photographs. *See State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010) (“If the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.”) (quoting *Nance*, 320 S.C. at 508, 466 S.E.2d at 353); *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. 232, 250, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607 (Ct.App. 2008) (“Admitting photographs which serve to corroborate testimony is not an abuse of discretion.”). *See also State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 76, 502 S.E.2d 63, 76 (1998) (photographs of various bone and bomb fragments and clothing found at crime scene were admissible in murder prosecution to corroborate testimony

concerning condition of victim's body as first discovered by police at crime scene, and location of bone and bomb fragments supported testimony that bomb had been detonated in victim's mouth).

Finally, any error in the introduction of these photographs must be viewed as non-prejudicial and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, since it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) ("Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial"); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) ("When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result"). As noted earlier, the evidence against Heyward was overwhelming. Despite the compelling evidence, Heyward ultimately argued he was not the perpetrator of the crime. The jury simply did not believe him.

- VI. **Heyward offered no evidence any juror saw his shackles during jury selection, so he cannot show prejudice from the trial court's denial of his motion to remove the shackles.**

#### **Standard of Review**

Whether a defendant is restrained during trial is within the trial judge's discretion. The trial judge is to balance the prejudicial effect of shackling with the considerations of courtroom decorum and security. *Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337 (1970). The trial judge is the best equipped to decide the extent to which security measures should be adopted to prevent disruption of the trial, harm to those in the courtroom, escape of the accused, and prevention of other crimes. *State v. Tucker*, 320 S.C. 206, 209, 464 S.E.2d 105, 107 (1995).

### How the Issue Was Presented at Trial

Before jury selection began, Heyward asked to court to remove the shackles from his feet, arguing the shackles could be seen from the first two rows of the gallery directly behind Heyward. (R. p. 2, lines 11-15.) Heyward requested the removal for the duration of the jury selection. (R. p. 2, lines 16-17.)

The trial court denied the motion without elaboration. (R. p. 2, line 23.)

### Analysis

As a general proposition, a criminal defendant has the right to appear in court free from physical restraints. “The law has long forbidden routine use of visible shackles during the guilt phase; it permits a [s]tate to shackle a criminal defendant only in the presence of a special need.” *Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622, 626 (2005). A defendant's appearance in shackles “may reverse the presumption of innocence by causing jury prejudice thereby denying him due process.” *Jones v. Meyer*, 899 F.2d 883, 884 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.); see *Duckett v. Godinez*, 67 F.3d 734, 748 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995) (holding that because of the potential for prejudice, due process requires that shackles be used as a “last resort”). However, “the trial judge is the best equipped to decide the extent to which security measures should be adopted to prevent disruption of the trial, harm to those in the courtroom, escape of the accused, and prevention of other crimes.” *State v. Tucker*, 320 S.C. 206, 209, 464 S.E.2d 105, 107 (1995).

“In order for a criminal defendant to enjoy the maximum benefit of the presumption of innocence, our courts should make every reasonable effort to present the defendant before the jury in a manner that does not suggest, expressly or impliedly, that he or she is a dangerous character whose guilt is a foregone conclusion.... The negative connotations of restraints, nevertheless, are without significance **unless the fact of the restraints comes to the attention**

of the jury.” *State v. Brawley*, 137 A.3d 757, 760 (Ct. 2016), citing *State v. Webb*, 680 A.2d 147(1996) (emphasis added). It is the defendant's burden to show that the presence of shackles prejudiced him in some way. See *U.S. v. Mayes*, 158 F.3d 1215, 1226-27 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998) (even if court abused its discretion in ordering defendants to wear leg irons during trial, defendants failed to demonstrate prejudice and were not denied fair trial); *Castillo v. Stainer*, 983 F.2d 145,147 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992) (error in restraining defendant harmless where restraint could not be seen by the jury); *State v. Williams*, 485 A.2d 570 (Ct. 1985) (“the record does not indicate ... [and] the defendant [does not] claim that any offer of proof was made as to whether the jurors could or did view the restraints when on the defendant”).

In the present case, the record indicates the trial court denied Heyward’s request to remove his shackles during jury selection. However, the defense did not make any offer of proof at trial with respect to whether the jury **could** or **did** see the restraints. The only argument in support of the claim was that if a jury member sat in the front two rows directly behind Heyward, the juror **might** be able to see under the defense table and view the leg shackles. Apart from the statement of Heyward’s counsel expressing his concern, the record contains no evidence the possibility of a viewing prejudiced the minds of the jurors against Heyward. The record was not developed to include whether any potential juror sat in the two rows behind Heyward during jury selection, nor was there any evidence on the record concerning the clothing Heyward wore or the nature of the restraints. Further, Heyward did not request the trial judge to admonish the jury to disregard any viewing and draw no inferences from the fact that he was in leg restraints in the courtroom. In fact, defense counsel never renewed or amplified his initial objection after the conclusion of jury selection. Therefore, Heyward has failed to establish that the trial court's

refusal to remove his shackles during jury selection compromised his presumption of innocence in any manner.

**VII. There is no error, much less cumulative error, and any preserved errors are harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt. A defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect one, and even a perfect trial would have inevitably resulted in Heyward's conviction.**

Lastly, Heyward argues this Court should grant a new trial on the basis of the cumulative error doctrine. This ground was neither raised at trial nor in any motion for new trial and is therefore not preserved for review. The exact name of the legal doctrine employed does not need to be used to preserve an argument, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground. *State v. Russell*, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001).

Nonetheless, the cumulative error doctrine provides relief to a party when a combination of errors, insignificant by themselves, has the effect of preventing the party from receiving a fair trial, and the cumulative effect of the errors affects the outcome of the trial. *State v. Beekman*, 405 S.C. 225, 237, 746 S.E.2d 483, 490 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing *State v. Johnson*, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999)). An appellant must demonstrate more than error in order to qualify for reversal pursuant to the cumulative error doctrine; rather, he must show the errors adversely affected his right to a fair trial to qualify for reversal on this ground. *Id.*; see also *State v. McEachern*, 399 S.C. 125, 150, 731 S.E. 2d 604, 617 (Ct. App. 2012) (stating, "even if the court did commit any errors, we believe those errors to be harmless such that Hollie can show neither prejudice, nor that the errors affected her right to a fair trial"). The Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one. *State v. Mitchell*, 330 S.C. 189, 199-200, 498 S.E.2d 642, 647-48 (1998) (finding reversal on cumulative error doctrine not warranted).

Further, our courts have addressed the issue of an unpreserved cumulative error doctrine, concluding the doctrine is not recognized when an appellant asks the court to consider the

unpreserved issues for review. *See State v. Beekman*, 405 S.C. 225, 238, 746 S.E.2d 483, 490 (Ct. App. 2013) (“our appellate courts do not apply the plain error rule”); *State v. Sheppard*, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (noting appellant clearly sought for the appellate court to apply the plain error rule and stating as follows: “This Court, however, has routinely held the plain error rule does not apply in South Carolina state courts. Instead, a party must have a contemporaneous and specific objection to preserve an issue for appellate review.”) As in *Beekman* and *Sheppard*, Appellant asks this court to apply the plain error doctrine by combing the record for issues and arguing for the first time on appeal the cumulative effect of these matters deprived him of a fair trial.

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